Q3900.8 Court of Appeals File No. 333523 OCT 2 1 2016

COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION HI
STATE OF WASHINGTON
BY

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION III

JONATHAN J. SPRAGUE, a married man,

Petitioner/Plaintiff,

FILED
NOV 03 2016
WASHINGTON STATE
SUPREME COURT

VS.

SPOKANE VALLEY FIRE DEPARTMENT, a fire district; MIKE THOMPSON and LINDA THOMPSON, husband and wife, and the marital community composed thereof,

Respondents/Defendants.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Matthew C. Albrecht, WSBA 36801 David K. DeWolf, WSBA 10875 ALBRECHT LAW PLLC 421 W. Riverside Ave., STE 614 (509) 495-1246

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner Jonathan J. Sprague ("Sprague") asks this court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review designated below.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

A copy of the published Court of Appeals decision, including the majority, concurring and dissenting opinions, — Wn. 2d —, — P.3d —, 2016 WL 5239627 (Sept. 21, 2016), is reproduced in the Appendix to this Petition at pages A-1 to A-52.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- A. Can claims for declaratory and injunctive relief proceed independently as to the constitutionality of an employer's speech policy even if the employee's individual employment claim was dismissed on the basis of collateral estoppel by an administrative agency ruling?
- **B.** When an official albeit unwritten employment policy is implemented uniformly by an agency, but differs from the agency's written policy, can employee maintain a facial challenge to the constitutionality of the unwritten policy?
- C. Can a public employee be fired for including his religious viewpoint in communications using email and electronic bulletin boards which are otherwise allowed properly used to communicate on the same topics?
- **D.** Does the legal conclusion by an administrative body regarding the constitutionality of a free-speech restriction prohibit subsequent review of the constitutionality of that restriction under the doctrine of collateral estoppel?
- **E.** Are the requirements for application of collateral estoppel satisfied in this case?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Sprague was a firefighter, and eventually a captain, with the Spokane Valley Fire Department (the "Department") between 1995 and 2012 before he was fired, ostensibly on grounds of "insubordination." Sprague's alleged insubordination consisted of emailing² and posting to an internal electronic bulletin board communications announcing meetings and newsletters covering current topics of discussion at the Department from his point of view as a member of a group of firefighters known as the Spokane Valley Christian Firefighter Fellowship ("Fellowship"). Sprague was told that he could communicate announcements for Fellowship meetings, but could not include citations to Scripture. After a period of attempting to comply with this and ever growing restrictions on his communications, Sprague was finally told that he could not communicate any religious

¹ Sprague was described by the Department's Commissioners as an "excellent firefighter," and "a good human being," CP 128. Chief Thompson admitted that Sprague's religious speech had not harmed anybody. CP 78. Sprague was valuable enough to the Department that it kept him on as a temporary Battalion Commander for over a month after the decision had initially been made to terminate his employment simply because they needed him to help during the busy fire season. *Id*.

² The emails were sent only internally to other employees of the Department, and only to those who showed an interest in receiving this information. Several of the emails included a specific note that anyone who did not want to receive them would be removed from the address list. CP 251, 265. After this dispute arose, in 2012 one member of the Department's Management team asked to be removed and was removed from the list.

viewpoint, even on topics already being discussed on the Department's electronic communication systems. Sprague filed an EEOC charge believing it was improper for the Department to single out communications with a religious viewpoint for specific restrictions, but was fired when he joined in internal Department discussions with communications that included his religious point of view.

A. The official albeit unwritten policy enforced against Sprague.

At every stage of this dispute, the Department's briefing has denied that the Department has a policy prohibiting employees from communicating religious viewpoints where other viewpoints would be permitted. But those responsible for enforcing the Department's unwritten policy restricting communication of religious viewpoints readily admit to the actual official policy followed and enforced by the Department.

1. As described by Spokane Valley Fire Department's Designated Representative.

The Department appointed Valerie Biladeau, its human resources manager, as its designated representative for testimony in this lawsuit. Biladeau explained that although she could point to no written policy, the Department made sure all emails were "content neutral," by which she meant they should never mention "religion of any kind." CP 353-355. Biladeau explained that the Department allowed email communications on

topics including suicide prevention, stress reduction through meditation, alcoholism, dealing with teenagers, and dealing with divorce, among others.³ However, she stated that communications on these topics are acceptable only from a *nonreligious* point of view, and that Sprague's communications were not acceptable because of his *religious* point of view. CP 354-55 (referring to Sprague's "individual perspective of his interpretation of what he had read in the Bible").⁴

2. As described by Spokane Valley Fire Departments Chief.

The Department admitted in response to a request for admission, "Former Chief Thompson recalls a discussion with Plaintiff about not using

³ A listing of the topics covered by Department newsletters sent over the same system used by Sprague includes anger management, spirituality, financial planning, physical and emotional impacts from firefighting silently spilling into home life, depression, signs of suicidal thinking, difficult team behavior, alcohol use, eating disorders, leadership, gambling disorder, binge drinking, and tending to an empty nest. CP 272. Other emails sent during the same timeframe (via bulk to ALL EVERYONE) which were allowed by the Department (and many sent by Chief Thompson) covered topics from fishing, hockey, soccer, charity golf tournaments, chili fundraisers, poker games, fun runs, adopt a dog programs, and many others. CP 273.

⁴ Before this appeal in which the Department has shifted to claiming its discipline had nothing to do with religion, the Department specifically cited the fact that Sprague's communications contained religious viewpoints as its justification for disciplining him, claiming: "SVFD was constitutionally obligated to curtail the speech of Sprague in order to prevent the appearance that SVFD, a governmental entity, was endorsing religion." CP 309; accord CP 74.

the SVFD email system to disseminate personal religious beliefs." CP 485.

This is consistent with Chief Thompson's testimony to the Civil Service Commission:

Capt. Sprague and I have met on one occasion when I came out to the Fire Station 9 where he was assigned to talk about some of his material that he was sending out. And after that, I believe it was in October [2011] when I was on vacation, and received an email that Capt. Sprague had sent out to everybody about some religious beliefs pertaining in particular to a mental well-being of firefighters, AND I told him that he could not or should not use the department's email system to send out that information.

CP 75. The only complaint Chief Thompson had with regard to Sprague's emails and bulletin board postings was the fact that they contain language of a religious nature. CP 76.⁵

3. As described by the Spokane Valley Fire Department Civil Service Commission.

The Civil Service Commission found that the policy enforced by the Department prohibited Sprague from using "the internal electronic bulletin board and electronic mail system for the purpose of expressing his religious views, including quoting Scripture from the Bible." CP 99-100. The commission found that this policy (prohibiting expression of religious viewpoints) was being enforced against all employees of the Department.

5

⁵ See also disciplinary notices described below and attached in the appendix to this brief, all referencing the "religious nature" of Sprague's communications as the justification for discipline.

CP 102. The Department admitted to the Civil Service Commission that the firefighters' collective bargaining agreement requires the Department to allow employees to use the internet for personal use as an employment benefit. CP 298.

B. The written policies were not violated.

The Department has only referenced two possible written rules that could justify its termination of Sprague's employment: Department Policy 171 (computers and electronics),⁶ and Department Policy 120 (chain of command/insubordination).⁷ The letters of discipline issued by the Department to Sprague each explained it was the "religious nature" of his communications which caused him to be disciplined:

⁶ The full text of Department Policy 171 can be found at CP 371-77. The Department relies on subsection K, which reads "[e]mail, chat room, newsgroup and all other forms of communication using the internet, intranet, or other department communications shall not contain ethnic slurs, racial epithets, or disparagement of others based on race, national origin, sex, age, disability or religious beliefs. Communication that is in any way construed by others as disruptive, offensive, abusive or threatening is prohibited." CP 375. The only mention of religion within this policy is to prohibit communications which would disparage others based on their religious beliefs—something the Department has never accused Sprague of doing.

⁷ The full text of Department Policy 120(C) reads "[n]o employee of the department shall refuse to obey any reasonable order or direction given by a superior officer." CP 379. The Department's citation to the insubordination policy is a bit circular in that the insubordinate act being alleged is in all cases is the fact that Sprague continued including his religious viewpoint in communications.

- 1. SVFD's April 20, 2012 letter disciplines Sprague for "the use of language and written content that was of a religious nature, specifically quotation of scripture." CP 379.
- SVFD's May 2, 2012 letter of reprimand disciplines Sprague for "written content that was of a religious nature, including religious symbols." CP 382.
- SVFD's June 13, 2012 letter proposing to suspend Sprague describes prohibited behavior as "written content that was of a religious nature." CP 392.
- 4. SVFD's September 6, 2012 letter proposing to terminate Sprague's employment describes his prohibited behavior as including "written content that was of a religious nature." CP 397.

C. Sprague was fired for violating the official but unwritten policy.

When asked to explain what Sprague had done to justify the disciplinary action against him, Department Representative Biladeau testified it was Sprague's "citation of Scriptures on the supporting issues" and "not following an order by his superior to cease [citing Scripture]." CP 365. Biladeau confirmed Sprague was disciplined *not* for communicating on personal matters over the Department's electronic systems (which would have been allowed), but rather was disciplined because he continued to include his religious viewpoint:

He could send an e-mail that said the Spokane Christian firefighter fellowship is going to meet on Monday at six p.m. at such and such a place for fellowship. He could have done that all day long if he wanted to. It was because he was using religious signs and Scripture that was the problem.

CP 480-81 (emphasis added).

According to Chief Thompson, the specific action Sprague took that the Department relied on to terminate his employment was the electronic communication Sprague sent on July 16, 2012, and specifically the fact that this communication was "again, talking about Jesus as detailed in the Bible and how he interacts with his father above and his disciples below." CP 78-9. This final "triggering" communication was titled "more discussion about leadership in suicide prevention" and is reproduced in the appendix to this petition. CP 265-6.

D. Procedural history.

1. Civil Service Commission

Sprague appealed to the Civil Service Commission to reverse SVFD's termination. Although he knew that the Commission could not remedy his constitutional claims, he believed that he should pursue the more expeditious path to his reinstatement. A hearing was conducted on October 8, 2012. On March 21, 2013 the Commission entered its decision, finding that Sprague's termination was justified because, they concluded, the policy being violated was a lawful policy. CP 98-104.

2. Summary Judgment

Sprague filed this lawsuit against the Department and defendant Thompson on February 4, 2014, CP 3, and by stipulation of the parties, CP 11, filed an amended complaint on July 23, 2014. CP 13. Sprague's amended complaint included § 1983 claims for violation of Sprague's First Amendment and Fourteenth Amendment rights, for violation of Title VII of the Civil Rights Act, for violation of Sprague's free speech and religious freedom and equal protection rights under the Washington State Constitution, and for violation of Washington's Law against Discrimination. U.S. Const. amend. I; 42 U.S.C. § 1983; 42 U.S.C. § 1981; 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-5; Wash. Const. art. I, §§ 5, 11 & 12; Wa. Const. art. I, §§ 11; Wa. Const. art. I, §§ 12; RCW § 49.60.030.

The Department answered Sprague's amended complaint and subsequently filed a motion for summary judgment seeking dismissal based upon collateral estoppel by virtue of the Civil Service Commission's decision. CP 407-419. Sprague opposed the Department's motion and filed his own motion for partial summary judgment seeking declaratory and injunctive relief that the Department's official but unwritten policy was unconstitutional. CP 334-343.

The trial court heard both motions in a consolidated hearing on May 8, 2015. The trial court ruled that although the Commission "would not

have the competence to make a legal conclusion about constitutionality," RP 50, the Commission was nonetheless a forum which

can make factual findings, including factual findings which may support or not support a constitutional finding. It is just the constitutional finding they cannot make. But they made all the necessary findings to support one and the issue was argued to them. This case was not appealed and therefore the decision of the Civil Service Commission collaterally estops re-litigation of any of the matters before them, including whether or not the fire department rule in question here is unconstitutional.

RP 50-51.

3. Appeal

Sprague timely appealed both the denial of his motion for partial summary judgment and the granting of the Department's motion to the Court of Appeals. In a split decision with three separate opinions, the appellate court affirming dismissal of Sprague's employment claims and his requests for declaratory and injunctive relief. The majority opinion by Judge Korsmo, held that the Department's written policy was constitutional and that the Civil Service Commission ruling collaterally estopped all of Sprague's claims. The majority opinion did not address the constitutionality of the Department's official but unwritten policy. In a special concurrence, Judge Lawrence-Berrey explained that he would hold the Department's speech restrictions were lawful.

In dissent, Judge Fearing disagreed that the Civil Service Commission's decision gives rise to collateral estoppel because the constitutionality of the Department's policy presents questions of law: "based on the undisputed facts, this Court should address, without deference to the Civil Service Commission, the constitutional question of whether the fire Department unlawfully discriminated against Sprague because of his spiritual message." (Dissent, p. 17).

Judge Fearing further stated the Department is not constitutionally allowed to prohibit speech offered on topics already being discussed merely because Sprague's speech included his religious vantage point. That type of speech restriction is not viewpoint neutral. For that reason, among others, the dissent would have reversed the Department's summary judgment and remanded to determine the extent to which Sprague's discipline was based on the unlawful restriction of speech and what damages, if any, he suffered.

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

A. Review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (4) because the Court of Appeals decision presents a significant question of law under the state and federal constitutions and involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be addressed by this Court.

Under RAP 13.4(b)(3), review is warranted "[i]f a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved[.]" (Brackets added). Under RAP 13.4(b)(4),

review is warranted "[i]f the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court." (Brackets added.) The free speech rights of public employees such as Sprague, in particular the right to speak from a religious point of view on topics that are otherwise properly the subject of discussion in a public workplace, satisfy both of these criteria.

The majority opinion by the Court of Appeals below sidestepped the constitutional issue presented here by analyzing the constitutionality of the Department's written policy rather than the official-but-unwritten policy that served as the basis for the adverse employment actions against Sprague. The concurring and dissenting opinions disagreed about how the constitutional issues arising from the official-but-unwritten policy should be resolved. The constitutional magnitude of freedom of speech, and the public interest in this issue cannot be seriously denied. The lack of a controlling opinion regarding the constitutionality of the official-but-unwritten policy creates uncertainty for lower courts that should be resolved by this Court.

B. Review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2) because the Court of Appeals' application of collateral estoppel, over dissent, conflicts with other decisions from this Court and the Court of Appeals.

Under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2), review is warranted if a decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with other decisions from this Court or the Court of Appeals. The appellate court's application of collateral estoppel in this case conflicts with other decisions of this Court and the Court of Appeals in multiple respects, any one of which would justify review.

1. Sprague's claim for declaratory and injunctive relief based on the unconstitutionality of the Department's official albeit unwritten policy is not subject to collateral estoppel because the civil service commission did not have authority to consider the constitutionality of the policy or grant the requested relief.

Sprague pointed out that the civil service commission had no authority or jurisdiction to rule on the constitutionality of the department's official-but-unwritten policy. *See*, *e.g.*, App. Br., at 22-23, 29-31; Reply Br., at 2-3. The civil service commission invoked RCW § 41.08.090 as the basis for its authority to act. CP 100. The statute confines the commission's authority to determine whether an adverse employment action "was or was not made for political or religious reasons and was or was not made in good faith for cause." RCW § 41.08.090. The statute also limits the relief available to reinstatement with back pay or modification of the adverse employment action. *See id*.

The Court of Appeals decision below held that Sprague's claims for declaratory and injunctive relief were barred by collateral estoppel, with the majority opinion incorrectly characterizing those claims as an as-applied challenge to the Department's policy as written rather than a facial challenge to the Department's official albeit unwritten policy. *See Sprague*, 2016 WL 5239627, at *4 (¶ 20). In this respect, the Court of Appeals decision

conflicts with this Court's decision in *Nichols v. Snohomish County*, 109 Wn. 2d 613, 618, 746 P.2d 1208 (1987), holding that a civil service commission decision upholding an employee's termination does not give rise to collateral estoppel with respect to issues that the commission had no authority to hear or determine.

2. The Court of Appeals improperly gave collateral estoppel effect to conclusions of law.

The Court of Appeals decision below purported to give collateral estoppel effect to "findings" of the civil service commission that are, in effect, conclusions of law. As stated by Judge Fearing in his dissent:

The majority underscores two factual findings of the civil service commission and concludes that those findings bind this reviewing court. First, the commission found that the Spokane Valley Fire Department terminated Jonathan Sprague's employment because of insubordination, not for religious reasons. I disagree that this factual finding binds this reviewing court at least to the extent of requiring us to rule that the fire department did not discriminate on the basis of the viewpoint of Sprague's messages. The finding directly relates to Sprague's First Amendment argument, and thus the finding is akin to a conclusion of law. Collateral estoppel does not extend to conclusions of law rendered by administrative agencies.

Sprague, 2016 WL 5239627, at *14. Cases from this Court support the dissent and conflict with the majority opinion. See Kennedy v. City of Seattle, 94 Wn. 2d 376, 379, 617 P.2d 713 (1980) (stating "relitigation of an important public question of law ... should not be foreclosed by

collateral estoppel"); Southcenter Joint Venture v. National Democratic Policy Comm., 113 Wn. 2d 413, 419 & n.5, 780 P.2d 1282 (1989) (citing Kennedy).

3. <u>Properly interpreted, the civil service commission's</u> findings actually support Sprague's employment claims.

The Court of Appeals majority stated that the Civil Service Commission determined there was no evidence that the department "discriminated against Mr. Sprague for expressing his Christian views." (Sprague, at *2). However, the Commission stated that they were not actually resolving disputes of fact because "[t]he facts relating to this matter are, for the most part, undisputed." CP 99. Among these undisputed facts, the Commission specifically noted that Sprague was being disciplined precisely because he expressed his Christian views on a number of topics through the department's internal electronic bulletin board and electronic mail system. CP 99. The Commission also noted "that Sprague on several occasions made it clear through both words and conduct that he would not follow Chief Thompson's direct order not to use department property to express his religious views, including quoting scripture from the Bible." CP 102 (bold added). The inconsistency between the Commission's findings of fact (that the department policy prohibited speech from a religious viewpoint and Sprague was disciplined for continuing to speak his religious viewpoint) and the commissions ultimate conclusion (that Sprague was not disciplined for expressing his Christian views) highlights Commission's lack of competence on constitutional questions of law. This lack of competence, together with a lack of jurisdiction, is the reason conclusions of law from administrative agencies are not binding on the court under the doctrine of collateral estoppel.

VI. CONCLUSION

Sprague asks the Court to accept review and reverse the Court of Appeals decision, enter summary judgment in his favor that the official but unwritten policy of the Department is an unconstitutional restriction on the free speech rights of its employees, and to remand his remaining claims for trial.