I. IDENTITY OF THE RESPONDENTS 

This Answer is filed by Respondents Spokane Valley Fire 

Department ("SVFD") and Mike and Linda Thompson, collectively, 

through undersigned counsel. 

II. RESPONSE TO ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

The issues raised in Jonathan J. Sprague's Petition for Review do 

not merit review under RAP 13.4(b). However, if review is accepted, the 

issues before the Court would be: 

1. Whether the Court of Appeals properly concluded that the Civil 
Service Commission made factual findings "concerning the 
department's true motivation for terminating Mr. Sprague's 
employment." Appendix at 12. 

2. Whether the Court of Appeals correctly concluded that the factual 
determinations of the Civil Service Commission were "dispositive of 
all [Mr. Sprague's] claims." Appendix at 12. 

3. Whether the Court of Appeals properly ruled that SVFD's policy was 
constitutional. 

lli. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Mr. Sprague held the rank of Captain while employed by SVFD. 

CP 4. In the year leading up to his termination, Mr. Sprague repeatedly 

used his official SVFD email account to disseminate personal emails. CP 

153-155; 164-166; 172-196; 208-211. This conduct violated Department 

policies, including S&O #171. /d. 
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In accordance with S&O #171, Mr. Sprague was given orders from 

his superiors to discontinue the use of SVFD email for personal matters. 

CP 153-155; 164-166; 172-196; 208-211. Despite this order, Mr. 

Sprague continued to send personal emails to other firefighters at their 

business email addresses regarding his Spokane Valley Christian 

Firefighters Fellowship in violation of S&O #171. ld. 

Mr. Sprague was offered the opportunity to communicate his 

Christian message by way of his personal email but declined. CP 147. 

In response, SVFD utilized progressive discipline to encourage Mr. 

Sprague to stop violating policy and follow direct orders. CP 153-155; 

164-166; 172-196; 208-211. Progressive discipline was unsuccessful, 

and Mr. Sprague persisted. /d. As a result of serial violations of policy 

and orders, SVFD was forced to recommend termination to the Spokane 

Valley Board of Fire Commissioners. CP 116-119. 

On October 8, 2012, the Board of Fire Commissioners held a 

public hearing at Mr. Sprague's request. CP 121-131. Mr. Sprague 

participated in the hearing, was given an opportunity to be heard, and 

argued against the proposed disciplinary action. ld. Counsel for the 

International Association of Firefighters Local 876 was present and argued 

on behalf of Mr. Sprague. CP 64-96. Mr. Sprague's arguments included 

Federal, State, and biblical based contentions for being able to use public 
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property to promote his personal Christian beliefs. CP 128-130. At the 

conclusion of the hearing, the Board of Fire Commissioners voted to 

accept the proposed termination of Mr. Sprague for repeated refusal to 

follow policy, intentional contravention of orders, and insubordination. 

CP 130. 

Mr. Sprague appealed his termination to the Civil Service 

Commission. CP 133. On January 14, 2013, the Civil Service 

Commission conducted a full hearing under the authority of RCW 

41.08.090. CP 63-96. The hearing was recorded by a court reporter. CP 

63-96. Mr. Sprague was again represented by Union provided counsel. 

CP 64. Mr. Sprague was present throughout the entire proceeding; his 

lawyer presented witnesses; cross examined SVFD's witnesses; submitted 

exhibits; and made evidentiary objections. CP 63-96; 249-294. Further, 

he was permitted to argue on his own behalf. CP 65-66. At the end of the 

hearing, Mr. Sprague was given one month to submit a post-hearing brief. 

CP 95. On February 14, 2013, Mr. Sprague submitted a twelve page post 

hearing brief, which again advanced his arguments. CP 313-324. 

Approximately two months later, on March 21, 2013, the 

Commission issued its Findings and Decision. CP 98-104. By statute, the 

Commission was required to decide whether Mr. Sprague's termination by 

the Board of Fire Commissioners and SVFD was made in good faith, for 
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cause, and not for religious reasons. RCW 41.08.090. The Commission 

affirmed that Mr. Sprague was terminated for repeated violations of policy 

and orders, as well as insubordination. CP 98-104. Mr. Sprague had a 

right to appeal to Superior Court under RCW 41.08.090; but failed to 

exhaust this remedy. Instead, the Civil Service proceeding became final 

on April 22, 2013, and Mr. Sprague filed the instant collateral action. 

On February 4, 2014, Mr. Sprague filed this lawsuit against SVFD 

and Mike and Linda Thompson as a result of his alleged wrongful 

termination. CP 3-10. On December 19, 2014, SVFD filed a Motion for 

Summary Judgment arguing that Mr. Sprague's claims were barred by 

collateral estoppel. CP 325-327. On February 27, 2015, Mr. Sprague 

filed his own Motion for Partial Summary J udgrnent seeking declaratory 

judgment that "SVFD's policy was and remains unconstitutional, and that 

Mr. Sprague is entitled to an order enjoining its future enforcement." CP 

334-344. On May 15, 2015, the trial court granted SVFD's Motion for 

Summary Judgment and dismissed Mr. Sprague's lawsuit in its entirety. 

CP 492-495. The trial court also entered an order denying Mr. Sprague's